RECEIVED

Nov 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000678
Trial Court Case No.: 2022-CP-23-00564

Camille Bird,

Appellant,

v.

PetSmart, LLC, and FreshPet, Inc., Defendants,
Of which, PetSmart, LLC is the

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas M. Creech Jr. SCB #13797
LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS M. CREECH JR LLC
15 Brendan Way Suite 215 29615
PO Box 10411 29603
Greenville, South Carolina 864-235-4999
tmcreech@bellsouth.net
Attorney for Appellant

November 15, 2024

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the circuit court err when it found there to be no genuine issue as to any material fact as there was insufficient evidence establishing PetSmart either placed the water on the floor or had actual or constructive notice of the water on the floor at the time of the fall?

The question includes among other things:

- A. Did the trial court err in ruling that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact as there was insufficient evidence establishing PetSmart either placed the water on the floor or had actual or constructive notice of the water at the time of the fall?
- B. Did the trial court err when it decided that PetSmart employee Jordan Coates's statement in the post-fall reports in which he wrote that the "pet food refrigerator has been leaking", as well as internal PetSmart corporate email, were made solely in reference to a July-23, 2019, leak and therefore do not create a reasonable inference that PetSmart had notice, either constructive or actual of the refrigerator leaking water on the floor causing Ms. Bird to fall?
- C. Did the trial court err when it ruled that there was insufficient evidence that a sign, if it was there, was placed in response to the puddle of water Plaintiff claims to be the cause of her fall which would constitute evidence of notice of water on the floor to respondent PetSmart?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a premises liability case sounding in negligence. The date of the incident is September 6, 2019. The appellant Camille Bird, while shopping at the respondent PetSmart's store located at 1300 Woodruff Road in Greenville County on that date, fell in water on the floor in front of a refrigerator owned by FreshPet, Inc. that had spilled out of the refrigerator. The water had come from a drain pan under the refrigerator, said pan had become full and was leaking from the pan onto the floor.

On February 1, 2022, the appellant Camille Bird (hereinafter "plaintiff" or "appellant" or "Ms. Bird") filed a Summons and Complaint against two defendants PetSmart LLC (hereinafter "defendant" or "respondent" or "PetSmart") and defendant FreshPet, Inc. in the Thirteenth Circuit Court of Common Pleas in Greenville County. PetSmart was served with the Summons and Complaint on February 7th, 2022. Defendant FreshPet Inc. was served on February 7th, 2022, as well. PetSmart filed its Answer on March 8, 2022. FreshPet Inc. filed its Answer on March 4th, 2022.

The plaintiff resolved her case against defendant FreshPet, Inc. leaving only the respondent PetSmart in the case. On November 8th, 2023, respondent PetSmart filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. On January 7th, 2024, plaintiff-appellant filed the Affidavit of Brian Durig, P.E., along with exhibits. On January 8th, 2024, plaintiff-appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to respondent PetSmart's Motion for Summary Judgment, along with exhibits. That same day, January 8th, 2024, respondent PetSmart filed its Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, along with exhibits. Respondent PetSmart's counsel also filed additional exhibits, a photograph and the deposition transcript of Don Johnson on January 10th, 2024. On January 10th, 2024, the circuit court, Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., presiding, held a hearing at the Greenville

County Courthouse on respondent PetSmart's Motion for Summary Judgment and at the conclusion of the hearing, took the matter under advisement. On January 23, 2024, the circuit court Judge Morgan filed a "Form 4" Order granting defendant-respondent PetSmart's Motion for Summary Judgment, directing counsel for PetSmart to submit a formal written order. On February 6th, 2024, the circuit court Judge Morgan filed the court's formal Order granting defendant-respondent PetSmart's Motion for Summary Judgment deciding that essentially there was no genuine issue of material fact that respondent PetSmart had notice of the hazard. On February 15th, 2024, plaintiff-appellant Ms. Bird filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) with the circuit court. On April 1, 2024, the circuit court Judge Morgan denied plaintiff-appellant's Motion to Reconsider by written order filed that day. On April 24th, 2024, plaintiff-appellant served her Notice of Appeal on defendant-respondent PetSmart's counsel, Matthew LaFave. On April 25th, 2024, plaintiff-appellant filed her Notice of Appeal with the circuit court and with the South Carolina Court of Appeals as well Proof of Service of the Notice of Appeal. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a grant of a summary judgment motion, an appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court, that is, looking at the evidence and inferences in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, is there a genuine issue of material fact? Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 114, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). An appellate court “review[s] a grant of summary judgment using the same yardstick as the trial court: we view the facts in the light most favorable to . . . the non-moving party, and draw all reasonable inferences in her favor.” Abdelgheny v. Moody, 432 S.C. 346, 349, 852 S.E.2d 225, 227 (Ct. App. 2020) “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997). “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all **ambiguities**, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc., 349 S.C. 356, 563 S.E.2d 331, (2002)(Citing Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co., 267 S.C. 607, 230 S.E.2d 447 (1976)) (emphasis added). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000)(citing Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997). **A trial court commits reversible error when it “choos[es] between the multiple inferences emerging from the evidence.** Rule 56, SCRPC, reserves that choice to the jury.” Abdelgheny v. Moody, 432 S.C. 346, 351, 852 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2020)(emphasis added)

ARGUMENT

FACTS

On September 6, 2019, around 9:30AM, soon after the store opened at 9:00AM, appellant Camille Bird (hereinafter “plaintiff” or “appellant” or “ Ms. Bird”) entered the respondent PetSmart, LLC (hereinafter PetSmart” or “defendant” or respondent”) store #1300 located at 1125 Woodruff Road in Greenville, SC, to purchase FreshPet dog food for her pet dog Caroline, a beagle mix. (R. p. 239, lines 23-25); (R. p. 175, line 22). FreshPet sells its dog food products in a refrigerator cooler that it owns and places in the store with through a contract it has with PetSmart. This was the second time that Ms. Bird had purchased pet food from the FreshPet Fridge at this PetSmart location. (R. p. 227, lines 1-2). The previous time had been just 7 or so days earlier on August 29th, 2019. (R. p. 266, line 23 – p. 277 line 4). Ms. Bird passed through the entrance doors and went to the FreshPet refrigerators to pick up chicken recipe dog food to purchase. She left Caroline in the car. She had her purse over her shoulder, and nothing in her hands. (R. p. 176, lines 5-2); (R. p. 225, lines 10-15). The refrigerators were located on an aisle that was on the left side of the store, about a quarter of the way into that aisle. (R. p. 224, line 18 – p. 225, line 3). Ms. Bird entered the aisle where the refrigerators were located, walked on the left side of the aisle. The FreshPet fridges were on the right side of the aisle. Id. She did this so she could see the refrigerators better and see what product was available to find the food she wanted. Id.

There were three refrigerators lined up side-by-side, one in the center, one on the left, and one on the right. (R. p. 176, line 19 – p. 177, line 18). The refrigerators had FreshPet labels signage across the top of the refrigerator. (R. p. 225 lines 4-9). But there was something unusual to Ms. Bird about the center refrigerator. (R. p. 227, lines 12-17). The center refrigerator did not

have any products in it. (R. p. 177, lines 16-21). There were no lights on in that particular refrigerator, either. (R. p. 178, lines 20-25). Ms. Bird had noticed that the center refrigerator was in the same condition on August 29th, 2019, as it was on September 6, 2019. (R. p. 227, lines 12-17).

Thus, Ms. Bird decided to retrieve pet food from the refrigerator on the *left* because there was no product, and the lights were off in the center refrigerator. (R. p. 226, lines 7-17); (R. p. 178, lines 20-25). Ms. Bird did not know whether the power was off to the refrigerator or not, but it was unusual to her that lights would be off and there was no product in that machine. (R. p. 226, lines 7-17). The food she decided to purchase was on the top shelf of the refrigerator that was on the left. (R. p. 225, line 22 – p. 226, line 11).

Ms. Bird then approached the refrigerator on the left, opened the door, and retrieved the product. (R. p. 227, line 23 – p. 228, line 5). After she retrieved the food from the refrigerator, she stepped back to shut the door. Id. She then takes a step to her right, to begin walking across the front of the center refrigerator and as she takes the next step, she suddenly slips and falls, hitting a refrigerator on the way down before falling hard onto the floor. (R. pp. 227 – 229). She fell in a “slide down” -she slid down, hitting the refrigerator on the way down before landing in seated position, hitting her buttocks on the floor. (R. p. 178, line 12 – p. 180, line 10). Ms. Bird had stepped into a pool of water that that had been leaking from a pan under the center FreshPet refrigerator. (R. p. 303, lines 12-17); (R. p. 299, line 17 – p. 300, line 20). The pool of water was located in front of and along the center refrigerator, causing her to slip and fall. (R. p. 178, lines 16-19); (R. pp. 366).

After Ms. Bird fell, she was sitting on the floor in the pool of water that was right against the center refrigerator. (R. p. 179, lines 5-10). She was able to call out “hello” three times. (R. p.

230, lines 16-17). Not too long after that, a male PetSmart employee arrives to her. He was the first employee to arrive. That employee began screaming for help. (R. p. 229, line 25 – p. 230, line 9).

Other employees arrived to the location as well, a male employee and a female employee. (R. p. 231, lines 13-22). Ms. Bird fell in a sitting position with her head slumped to the left side. Her back was against the center refrigerator, and her legs were across the aisle. (R. pp. 178 – 180). Ms. Bird's head was slanted and all she could see was the tile floor. (R. p. 231, lines 8-11). Ms. Bird was sitting in a puddle right in front of the center refrigerator where she fell. (R. p. 177, lines 12-18). After lifting up Ms. Bird, the three PetSmart employees placed Ms. Bird in a chair on the other side of the aisle about two to three feet from the refrigerator. (R. p. 231, lines 8-11).

Prior to her falling, Ms. Bird did not notice any water leaking from any of the three refrigerators. (R. p. 177, line 4 – p. 179, line 16). The first time she became aware of water being on the floor was after she fell. (R. p. 177, lines 9-15). The water was located right under and in front of the center refrigerator. (R. p. 177, lines 12-18).

Ms. Bird never saw a wet floor sign. (R. p. 231, lines 2-5). Ms. Bird disputes that a wet floor sign was present.

Eventually Ms. Bird was able to regain strength to stand. She was assisted out to her car, and she drove home, though in pain. (R. p. 188, lines 9-24). She was able to attend a doctor's office and was later diagnosed with very serious injuries to her lower spine, back, requiring the implantation of a spinal stimulator.

Store Safety Inspections of its Floors on Day of Fall

Prior to Ms. Bird's arrival at the store, and prior to opening the store that day, PetSmart employees led by opening team leader Yojan Berrios had walked all aisles of the PetSmart store

conducting a safety inspection of the floors looking for any hazards. (R. p. 291, line 11 – p. 293, line 14); (R. p. 84, lines 15-18). The store opened at 9:00AM, (R. p. 289, lines 17-18), and the inspections of all the aisles of the store, including the aisle of the store where the fall took place, would have taken place beginning in the 1-2 hours prior to the store opening, and ending at the time of store open at 9:00AM, just 30-40 minutes before Ms. Bird fell. (R. p. 290, line 24 – p. 291, line 14).

Moreover, in addition to the safety inspections that were done immediately before the store opened, store policy requires all PetSmart employees to inspect the floors throughout the day and perform the necessary maintenance. (R. pp. 367-369). Store policy has a zero tolerance for wet spots on the floor. Id. Store policy requires that there be no wet spots, pet waste, debris on the floor etc. Id. If an employee discovers a wet spot or pet waste on the floor, store procedure requires the employee to remain with the wet spot while another employee is to retrieve the proper tools to clean up the wet spot. Id. Store policy prohibits an employee from leaving a wet spot or pet waste on the floor unattended. Id. Store employees are required to follow store policy and procedure. (R. p. 84, lines 6-8).

Assistant Store manager Jordan Coates arrived at work around 9:00AM on the September 6, 2019. He was going about his usual duties, when he was informed over the radio that a customer had fallen over by the coolers and that his presence was requested. (R. p. 294, lines 11-13). Coates went to the location immediately upon being notified. Coates testified that when he arrived to the fall location he observed Ms. Bird sitting on a red step stool. (R. p. 294, line 14 – p. 295, line 3). Coates saw water on the floor in front of the refrigerator as well as wet floor signs. (R. p. 295, lines 14-18).

Mr. Coates saw water that spanned the approximate 3 foot width of the front of the refrigerator and extended out approximately 1 ½ feet into the aisle in front of the refrigerator. (R. pp. 366). PetSmart, through its counsel, produced a picture that was taken on September 13th, 2019, a week after the accident. (R. pp. 450). Coates at his deposition was asked to illustrate on the picture the water he observed as it appeared on September 6th, 2019. (R. pp. 366).

The water was not spilling out or gushing out. (R. p. 302, line 14 – p. 303, line 16). Coates determined that the water had simply overflowed the pan underneath the refrigerator. (R. p. 303, lines 12-16); (R. p. 300, lines 14-20). Coates has testified that in trying to determine how the water got on the floor, “we had noticed that it was -- that it was pooling at that time -- after she had fallen, that we had looked into the fridge and found that the pan was full and that it needed to be worked on.” (R. p. 287, line 20 – p. 288, line 13).

Water was dripping onto the floor, in “drops . . . it was not flowing or anything.” (R. p. 105, lines 7-8). Eventually a towel was put down in front of the refrigerator to keep the drip of water from spilling onto the floor until FreshPet representatives could come to the store and repair the machine. Id.

As to the wet floor sign or signs, Coates testified that he saw wet floor signs when he arrived to the location of the fall. (R. p. 298, lines 13-21). A store employee Jordan Mills, who was one of the first employees on scene, told Mr. Coates that a wet floor sign was up and it had been there near the water prior to Ms. Bird falling. (R. p. 309, line 10 – p. 310, line 17). And according to the report he filled out, Mr. Coates believed that the wet floor signs were up at the time of the injury. (R. p. 316, lines 12-14).

PetSmart through its management and its employees was aware of the leaking propensities of the FreshPet Fridges at its stores, including the Woodruff Road store. In fact just

40 days or so, on July 29, 2019, this same FreshPet Fridge, serial number 6541189 was reported to be “leaking pretty bad on the floor” (R. pp. 441), and “The fridge is leaking pretty bad . . .” (R. pp. 436). On August 1, 2019, a thermostat was replaced on this same machine. (R. pp. 409-444).

In his experience, Coates had learned that a leak could be any fault of the machine; or sometimes the leak involved condensation build up on hot summer days. (R. p. 285, lines 1-25). Coates testified in his deposition that “like most refrigerators, they have some sort of drain pans in the bottom of them so if they -- if they were to fill up or anything like that, it could leak.” *Id.* The FreshPet Fridges have “a silver pan on the bottom that we could - we could empty out, that we would check pretty regularly during hot summers and stuff where -- where there could be a little more condensation pooling at the bottom.” (R. p. 285, lines 18-25). If Petsmart employees noticed a leak they would check “those pans personally to try and keep – make sure that we didn't have any water pooling on the floor.” (R. p. 286, lines 5-10). However, “most of the maintenance stuff was handled by FreshPet.” (R. p. 286, lines 9-10).

Store Incident Report states: “Pet food fridge has been leaking”

After the fall, Mr. Coates prepared a report, pursuant to standard operating procedure. (R. pp. 405). In the “Incident Information” section of the report, Mr. Coates wrote that:

*“[c]ustomer slipped on water. No damage. **Pet food fridge has been leaking.** Wet floor signs were present.”* (emphasis added)

When asked in his deposition what he meant about the statement that the refrigerator “has been leaking”, the following exchange took place in Mr. Coates deposition::

Q. Okay. Let me go back to the -- the statement that you made about the pet food fridge has been leaking. You didn't write anywhere in this statement that the -- the water leaked from the

- fridge. Is that correct?
- A. Correct. Yeah, that's not in the statement.
- Q. Right. And so, would you think that a fair interpretation is this pet food fridge has been leaking that it indicates there had been an ongoing leak with the pet food fridge?
- ...
- A. It's possible. I'm just not -- I'm not positive as to if it had been ongoing. I -- from my knowledge, is that -- that if it was ongoing, it would be very short term like, noticed that day. Because usually we have that communication that if there's any sort of issues with the coolers.
- Q. Okay. And it says, noticed that day. What do you mean by that?
- A. What I mean by that is that if, somebody had noticed that there was water on the floor and put the wet floor sign out, that that's when they probably initially noticed there could have been an issue.
- Q. Okay. That could have been causing the leaking?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. An issue with the fridge causing the leaking?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And that's why they would have put a wet floor sign out?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Okay. At that point, an employee that would have made that decision, they should have notified a team leader to get the problem fixed. Would you agree with that?
- A. Yes.

(R. p. 317, line 4 – p. 318, line 14).

Post accident investigation, repairs, and evidence

That day on September 6, 2019, in a phone call, Jordan Coates reported the incident. There is an email which states Description of Incident: THE REFRIGERATOR HAD BEEN LEAKING. THERE WAS A WET FLOOR SIGN UP IN THE AREA. THE CUSTOMER SLIPPED AND FELL IN WATER ON THE FLOOR. THE CUSTOMER FELL ON HER RT. SIDE. THE CUSTOMER SUSTAINED AN UNKNOWN INJURY TO THE RT. HIP.” (R. pp. 406).

A few days after the plaintiff's falling and becoming injured, PetSmart reported the defective refrigerator to FreshPet, who eventually sent a vendor, Konop, out to repair the refrigerator. A service order for that repair job dated September 17, 2019, stated that the FreshPet Fridge was leaking badly and "was a danger to associates and PP". (R. pp. 449). FreshPet stated in its Answers to Interrogatories that wicking pads in the refrigerator pan were causing the leaking problem and thereafter the wicking pads were replaced. (R. pp. 445-447).

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