RECEIVED

Sep 30 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000678

Camille Bird,

Appellant,

v.

PetSmart, LLC, and FreshPet, Inc., Defendants
Of which, PetSmart, LLC is the

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew C. LaFave, SC Bar No. 75365
CROWE LAFAVE GARFIELD & BAGLEY, LLC
2019 Park Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: 803.724.5727
matt@crowelafave.com
Attorney for Respondent

This 30th day of September 2024
Columbia, South Carolina

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

ARGUMENT

1. Appellant failed to produce any evidence tending to prove Respondent had either actual or constructive notice of the substance that caused the incident.

To establish negligence on the part of a merchant in South Carolina, a plaintiff must prove: (1) a duty of care owed to the plaintiff by the defendant; (2) a breach of that duty by some act or omission; and (3) that the plaintiff suffered damages proximately caused by the breach. See *Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 390 S.C. 382, 391, 701 S.E.2d 776, 780 (Ct. App. 2010). Where a plaintiff is attempting to recover for damages or injuries allegedly resulting from the presence of a foreign sustenance on the floor of the shopkeeper’s premises, the plaintiff is required to show “either that the substance was placed there by the defendant or its agents, or that the defendant had actual or constructive notice the substance was on the floor at the time of the slip and fall.” *Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 32, 35, 542 S.E.2d 728, 729-30; (see also *Calvert v. House Beautiful Paint & Decorating Ctr., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 494, 443 S.E.2d 398 (1994); *Wimberly v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 117, 165 S.E.2d 627 (1969); *Pennington v. Zayre Corp.*, 252 S.C. 176, 165 S.E.2d 695 (1969); *Orr v. Saylor*, 253 S.C. 155, 169 S.E.2d 396 (1969); *Hunter v. Dixie*

Home Stores, 232 S.C. 139, 101 S.E.2d 262 (1957); *Gilliland v. Pierce*, 235 S.C. 268, 111 S.E.2d 521 (1959); *Gillespie v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 90, 394 S.E.2d 24 (Ct. App. 1990)).

In South Carolina, a merchant owes a customer a duty of ordinary care to keep his premises in a reasonably safe condition. *Wimberley v. Winn–Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 117, 165 S.E.2d 627 (1969). Regarding slip and fall cases generally, “[i]t has long been the law in South Carolina that a merchant is not an insurer of the safety of his customer but owes them only the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition.” *Milligan v. Winn-Dixie Raleigh, Inc.*, 273 S.C. 118, 120-121, 254 S.E.2d 798, 799 (1979).

Appellant argues that summary judgment was not appropriate, when granted, because evidence presented, or reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, establish that the refrigerator at issue was leaking prior to Appellant’s fall, thus putting Respondent on actual or constructive notice of the leak. In this case, Appellant alleges that she slipped and fell as a result of water on the floor in the area of a “FreshPet Fridge.” Specifically, Appellant alleges that the “‘FreshPet Fridge’ . . . was in a state of disrepair leaking water, said water caused the plaintiff to slip and fall and become injured on September 6, 2019.” See ¶ 7 Appellant’s Complaint. Rather than Respondent’s employees spilling, dropping, or doing any affirmative act that caused the water to be present on the floor, the undisputed evidence establishes that the water on the floor where Appellant claims to have fallen came to be present as a result of water overflowing from a pan within the refrigerator. See Jordan Coates Deposition, p. 24, ll. 18-25; see also Incident Report dated 09/09/2019. Given the absence of evidence that Respondent or an agent thereof placed the substance on the floor, Appellant bore the burden, to withstand the Motion for Summary Judgment, to present evidence showing Respondent had actual or constructive knowledge of the substance and, despite such knowledge, failed to remedy the same.

Depositions taken of Appellant and Respondent's then assistant manager, Jordan Coates, both contain testimony that Respondent did not have actual knowledge of the substance on the floor. *See* Plaintiff's Deposition, P. 70, ll. 23-25; *id.* at P. 71, ll. 1-11; Jordan Coates's Deposition, p. 87, ll. 22-25. Appellant failed to provide any evidence to establish Respondent had actual knowledge of the presence of a foreign substance prior to the alleged fall. Moreover, Respondent provided affirmative evidence that it did not have actual knowledge of the substance. It is thus undisputed from the evidence presented by Appellant that Respondent did not have actual knowledge of the pool of water on the floor where Appellant allegedly fell prior to the occurrence.

Further, Appellant failed to provide any evidence tending to show that Respondent had constructive notice of the alleged dangerous condition prior to the incident. There are two possible ways for a Plaintiff to demonstrate that a Defendant had constructive notice of a dangerous condition: (1) the passage of time, and (2) if the Defendant creates conditions of such a recurrent nature that the Defendant may be chargeable with constructive notice on the day of the accident. "A storekeeper 'will be charged with constructive notice whenever it appears that the condition has existed for such length of time prior to the injury that, under existing circumstances, he should have discovered and remedied it in the exercise of due care[.]'" *Garrison v. Target Corporation*, 435 S.C. 566, 577, 869 S.E.2d 797, 803 (2022); (*quoting Anderson v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 257 S.C. 75, 77, 184 S.E.2d 77 (1971)). "The customer can establish the storekeeper's constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition by showing that the foreign substance had been on the floor for a sufficient length of time that the storekeeper would or should have discovered and removed it had the storekeeper used ordinary care." *Gillespie*, 302 S.C. at 91, 394 S.E.2d at 24 – 25.

In the present case, there has been no evidence introduced in the record to suggest that Respondent had constructive notice of the presence of a foreign substance due to the passage of

time. Specifically, Appellant was asked, and responded in the negative, if she knew how long the puddle of water had been on the floor prior to her fall. *See* Plaintiff's Deposition, P. 18, ll. 11-13. Likewise, Jordan Coates also testified that he did not know how long the puddle had been present. *See* Exhibit A, Jordan Coates's Deposition, P. 87, ll. 12-16. Appellant seemingly relies on testimony from two (2) of Respondent's employees in an attempt to establish that the leak was slow, and therefore the leak would have taken some time for the puddle to accumulate. However, there was no evidence establishing the rate at which the water was leaking from which the Court could be determined how long it took for the substance to be present in the amount it was when discovered after Appellant's fall. In that same breath, Appellant notes that store inspections began at 6:00AM the morning of the incident. Appellant did not provide any evidence to establish the substance was present in the aisle during the routine inspection.

Appellant repeatedly, and conveniently, ignores the presence of evidence so as to allow her to assert the existence of reasonable inferences from other evidence. Appellant, as a case in point, focused her argument on the nuances of the wording utilized by Jordan Coates in the completion of the incident report, which stated, in pertinent part, "[p]et food fridge has been leaking." Appellant, however, fails to properly acknowledge the deposition testimony in which Coates refutes the assertion that the language utilized in the incident report implies the leak was "ongoing" beyond the day of the fall. Likewise, Appellant refers to an email produced during discovery in an attempt to claim Respondent had knowledge of a leaking refrigerator before the subject incident. This argument, however, plainly ignores the balance of evidence in the record establishing the prior leak in July was of a completely different nature and was resolved long before Appellant's fall. Jordan Coates clearly testified that the leaking issue reported in July were resolved prior to Appellant's fall. Further, Jeannie Rogalla, of FreshPet, Inc., testified that repairs for the July issue

were made by a local technician at the direction of Konop Refrigeration. Ms. Rogalla also explained the repairs that were done in July were addressing a different issue than what was needed to address the leaking issue identified after Appellant's fall.

In fact, in other arguments, Appellant erroneously makes baseless assertions unsupported by any evidence, which are then claimed to be "reasonable inference[s]." By way of example Respondents note three (3) such instances. First, Appellant asserts Respondent knew the machines "had a propensity to leak – due to condensation build up in hot temperature days ... [and] [a]s a result, employees would check the area around the refrigerator to see if there was water on the floor." *See Initial Brief of Appellant* P. 15. Appellant asserts the checking "would likely have been done every day, probably during morning inspections before the store opened." *See Initial Brief of Appellant* P. 15. Second, a claim is made that "the machine appeared to have been malfunctioning for at least a week prior to the fall in this case." *See Initial Brief of Appellant* P. 15. Appellant contends the evidence supporting this assertion rested on the facts the machine was dark and contained no merchandise indicating there was a problem keeping merchandise cold. This assertion ignores the obvious fact that if the machine was powered off it would not have been cooling and as such would not have been producing condensation to fill the pan from which a leak was reportedly found. Finally, Appellant argues it would have taken "hours and certainly more than 30 minutes, for drops of water to accumulate into a pool or puddle measuring 1 1/2 feet by 3-4 feet, the entire width of the front of the refrigerator." *See Initial Brief of Appellant* P. 15. Appellant fails to direct this Court to any evidence in the record to support these assertions, which is owed to the fact that there is none.

The other possible way for Appellant to prove Respondent had constructive notice is the continual condition capable of implying constructive notice. In *dicta*, the South Carolina Supreme

Court has suggested that the length of time a substance has been on the floor “is not the only manner in which to establish constructive notice.” *Wintersteen supra*, 344 S.C. 32, 36, 542 S.E.2d 728, 730 (2001). “Notably, in [two recent South Carolina decisions] the conditions were of such a recurrent nature that the defendants were chargeable with constructive notice on the day of the accident.” *Id.*

The first of the two decisions mentioned in *Wintersteen* by the Supreme Court is its own decision in *Henderson v. St. Francis Community Hospital*, 303 S.C. 177, 399 S.E.2d 767 (1990). In *Henderson*, the Plaintiff stepped on an accumulation of sweet gum balls, turned her foot, and fell while walking in the Greenville St. Francis Hospital parking lot. *Henderson*, 303 S.C. 177, 399 S.E.2d 767. The Court hinted in *Wintersteen* that the constantly falling sweet gum balls of *Henderson* were of such a recurrent nature that the defendants could be charged with constructive notice, however, the Court’s *Henderson* decision was not based upon that theory. *Henderson*, 303 S.C. at 180, 399 S.E.2d at 769. *Henderson* was based on the fact that the hospital planted the sweet gum trees that created the problem, it had received notice that the problem existed, it did not remove the trees after receiving such notice, it built a stairway immediately adjacent to one of the trees, and it failed to implement and or utilize a regular maintenance program. *Id.*

The second decision mentioned in *Wintersteen* is the South Carolina Court of Appeals decision of *Pinckney v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 1, 426 S.E.2d 327 (Ct. App. 1992). In *Pinckney*, Frances Pinckney slipped and fell on poinsettia leaves in a Winn-Dixie. *Pinckney v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 1, 426 S.E.2d 327 (Ct. App. 1992). Again, the Court hinted in *Wintersteen* that the constantly falling poinsettia leaves of *Pinckney* were of such a recurrent nature that the defendants were chargeable with constructive notice because it was “inferable that, under the situation there existing, the falling to the floor of the leaves can be likened to a leaking faucet.”

Wintersteen, 344 S.C. at 36, 542 S.E.2d at 730. However, the Supreme Court in *Wintersteen* noted that the Appellate Court’s decision in *Pinckney* was not based upon that theory. There was “evidence of record from which the jury might well have inferred that the store manager observed the poinsettia leaves falling to the floor and that the leaves were left on the floor until the next periodic sweeping.” *Id.*

The *Wintersteen* Court’s *dicta* further refers to this theory by stating that even where “recurrence is of such a nature as to amount to a continual condition” it must be “coupled with other evidence, such as store employees’ knowledge thereof.” *Id.* Only then does the Court suggest that a recurrent condition “may be sufficient to create a jury issue as to the defendant’s constructive notice at the time of the accident.” *Id.* In the instant case, Appellant presented no evidence that the refrigerator that was found to be leaking was placed in the store by Respondent. Moreover, there is no evidence that the leak was of such a recurring nature that it could be argued, let alone found, that it was constant thereby charging Respondent with constructive notice.

Appellant refers repeatedly to an internal email exchange which references a prior leak from the fridge in issue. However, Appellant presented no evidence that there was a persistent leak following the first reported leak in July of 2019, the resolution of the leak in July of 2019, and the second leak in September of 2019. There is no evidence in this chain tending to establish a recurring condition that rises to a level sufficient to establish constructive notice. Although the South Carolina Supreme Court did not expressly define “constantly,” it is safe to assume that even under the most liberal interpretation of the word, it is more than one time.

Appellant has failed to establish any evidence tending to prove constructive notice. Appellant continues to reference several other pieces of evidence that have no bearing on the burden Appellant was required to meet in the lower court. Appellant seemingly forgets who bears

the burden of proof in a negligence action and relies more upon the evidence not presented by Respondent than meeting her own burden. Even viewing all of the evidence presented in the light most favorable to Appellant, she has failed to present any evidence tending to prove Respondent was on notice of the substance beyond mere speculation. Therefore, the court did not err when it found there to be no genuine issue as to any material fact that there was insufficient evidence to establish Respondent either placed the water on the floor or had actual or constructive notice of the water on the floor at the time of the fall.

2. Jordan Coates’s statement in the post-incident report and the internal PetSmart corporate emails do not create a reasonable inference that PetSmart had notice, constructive or actual, that the refrigerator was leaking.

In reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC; “the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *Bell v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 565, 576, 757 S.E.2d 399, 404 (2014) (citing *Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co.*, 267 S.C. 607, 230 S.E.2d 447 (1976)). “Nevertheless, ‘when the evidence is susceptible of only one reasonable interpretation, summary judgment may be granted.’” *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (quoting *Brooks v. Northwood Little League, Inc.*, 327 S.C. 400, 403, 489 S.E.2d 647, 648 (1997))). Additionally, “it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.” *Id.* at 463-64, 892 S.E.2d at 301 (citing *Town of Hollywood v. Floyd*, 403 S.C. at 477, 744 S.E.2d at 166).

In the instant case, there is only one reasonable inference when reading the incident report in light of the prevailing evidence in the case. When looking to the totality of the circumstances, and evidence in the record, the phrase “Pet food fridge has been leaking,” can only refer to

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